THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

W.C.C.FILE NO.: 1008485
APPELLATE CASE NO.: 2014-001503

RECEIVED
DEC 29 2014
SC Court of Appeals

Rusty Lowery, Claimant.....Appellant,

v.

Pioneer Associates, Employer, and
Chartis Casualty Co., Carrier.....Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

David A. Wilson
The Law Offices of David A. Wilson, LLC
200 Whitsett Street, Suite B
Greenville, South Carolina 29601
(864) 232-2329

Chadwick D. Pye
Chadwick D. Pye, LLC
P.O. Box 6346
Spartanburg, SC 29304

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a lifetime benefits workers' compensation case involving physical brain damage. Rusty Lowery (hereinafter referred to as "Claimant" or "Rusty") sustained an admitted injury by accident on July 9, 2010 while working for Williams Electric Company.

Claimant filed his Employee's Notice of Claim on February 12, 2013. (ROA p. ____; 2/12/13 Form 50). He alleged injuries to his "brain, neck and back" and requested compensation for permanent and total disability stemming from his July 9, 2010 accident. The Defendants Pioneer Associates and Chartis Casualty Company filed their WCC Form 21 on March 19, 2013 and their Form 51 on May 1, 2013. (ROA p. ____; Form 21 & 51).

Claimant filed his WCC Form 58-Pre-Hearing Brief and APA Submissions on April 24, 2013. (ROA p. ____; Claimant's Form 58 & APA Submissions). Claimant filed Supplemental APA Submissions on _____. (ROA p. ____; Claimant's Supplemental APAs). Claimant filed his Second Supplemental APA Submissions on April 29, 2013 as well. (ROA p. ____; Claimant's Second Supplemental APAs).

Defendants filed their WCC Form 58 and APA Submissions on April 29, 2013 as well. (ROA p. ____; Defendant's Form 58 & APA Submissions).

In response to a motion filed by the Defendants, Claimant filed a Reply to Defendants' Motion in Limine on May 17, 2013. (ROA p. ____; Reply to Defendants' Motion in Limine).

The single commissioner heard the case on May 22, 2013 even though Claimant was not present. (ROA p. ____; Transcript of 5/22/13 hearing). By Decision and Order filed September 26, 2013, the single commissioner found that Claimant sustained an admitted injury by accident on July 9, 2010 injuring his face, head and neck. (ROA p. ____; Single Commissioner Order p. 14, Finding of Fact No. 9). The single commissioner further found that Claimant sustained only a "mild and not

severe” brain injury resulting in permanent partial wage loss in the amount of \$728.80 per week. The single commissioner denied Claimant’s request for a finding of permanent and total disability accompanied by physical brain damage with lifetime benefits. The single commissioner expressly considered and relied upon the deposition of Claimant even though the deposition transcript was never made part of the record. (ROA ___p. Single Commissioner Order p. 2-4).

Both parties appealed. (ROA p. ___; WCC Form 30s). Both parties filed briefs with the Appellate Panel in support of their position. (ROA p. ___; Brief of Claimant/Appellant; Brief of Defendants/Appellants).

The appeal was heard by the Appellate Panel of the South Carolina Workers’ Compensation Commission on March 17, 2014. (ROA p. ___; Transcript of 3/17/14 hearing). By Appellate Panel Decision and Order of the South Carolina Workers’ Compensation Commission filed June 16, 2014, the Appellate Panel affirmed the Decision and Order of the single commissioner but did not reference the deposition of Claimant. (hereinafter “Appellate Panel Order”).

Claimant filed its Notice of Appeal on July 14, 2014. (ROA p. ___; Notice of Appeal received by Ct. App. July 14, 2014). The Defendant did not appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Prior to July 9, 2010, Claimant was a pretty healthy man and a pleasant, hardworking employee.

As of February 13, 2007, Claimant had a clean bill of health per Dr. Stephen McPhail. (ROA p. ___; APA No.1). Claimant had no history of any significant health problems. (ROA p. ___; APA p. 1).

Claimant’s family doctor was Dr. Henry Shugart at Carolina Medical Affiliates in Spartanburg, South Carolina. (ROA p. ___; APA No. 2). Claimant was examined by Carolina

Medical Affiliates six times during the period leading up to the accident. These examinations revealed no chronic health problems except for Claimant's ongoing struggle with his weight.

Claimant did not report vision problems during his examinations by Carolina Medical Affiliates. (ROA p. ____; APA. p. 9, 14, 17, 20, 23, 26).

Claimant did not report any memory problems leading up to the July 9, 2010 accident. (ROA p. ____; APA p. 9, 11, 15, 18, 21, 24, 27).

Claimant also did not report any depression, anxiety or agitation leading up to the July 9, 2010 accident. (ROA p. ____; APA p. 9, 11, 15, 18, 21, 24, 27).

Claimant did not report any problems with his neck or upper back leading up to the July 9, 2010 accident. (ROA p. ____; APA p. 1, 3, 9, 10, 11, 14, 15, 18, 27).

Claimant was, without question, also a good employee before July 9, 2010. He was hired in either late 2002 or early 2003. (ROA p. ____; APA p. 136). By June of 2005, his lead supervisor, Dennis Messer, ranked Claimant "among the top" of 27 employees. (ROA p. ____; APA p. 136). Mr. Messer found Claimant to be "very professional," "polite," "very hardworking" and "dedicated." (ROA p. ____; APA p. 136).

Claimant's Performance Appraisal Review on March 7, 2009 included findings of "outstanding" or "very good" in almost every category. (ROA p. ____; APA p. 138-143). His employer noted that Claimant "puts out more work than he's ever asked to" and he "works well with everyone and is a great team player." (ROA p. ____; APA p. 139, 141). His "Attendance/Punctuality" rating was "outstanding." (ROA p. ____; APA p. 142).

Unfortunately, Claimant's good health, excellent work ethic and pleasant demeanor were altered permanently on July 9, 2010.

To truly understand how the injury impacted Claimant's life, it is critical to understand

Claimant's job and the mechanics of the accident. Claimant "ran a line truck" for Williams Electric Company. (ROA p. ____; Tr. p. 22-23). A line truck is the "pole setting truck to set pole lines to build power lines." (ROA p. ____; Tr. p. 23). The specific duties of Claimant's job were to "operate truck, pick up the poles,....deliver them, set the poles, frame the hardware, put the insulators and stuff on it and then the bucket truck comes to install the power lines." (ROA p. ____; Tr. 25). His job "required a lot of climbing poles/ladders and frequently lifting of 75lbs. or more." (ROA p. ____; APA p.90).

On July 9, 2010, Claimant and his team were installing a pole. As part of this process, they were using a 300 pound auger to create the hole for placement of the pole. This 300 pound auger cut loose and swung down approximately 20 feet and hit Claimant on the left side of his head. (ROA p. ____; APA p. 37, 43, 58, 67, 113). He was flown by helicopter from the accident site to Spartanburg Regional Medical Center because of the severity of the accident. (ROA p. ____; APA p. 50, 57, 113).

Pursuant to the records from Spartanburg Regional Medical Center, "at admission, Rusty was confused but alert, did not recall the accident. He had an unknown duration of loss of consciousness." (ROA p. ____; APA p. 43). He had no recollection of the incident or "even minor events leading up to the day of the incident." (ROA p. ____; APA p. 50). He sustained a left frontal laceration approximately 4 inches in length. (ROA p. ____; APA p. 59, 114). He sustained a concussion, left frontal skull fracture, and left frontal orbital fracture. (ROA p. ____; APA p. 43, 48, 51, 52, 53, 54, 55, 69, 114). The left frontal bone was depressed into the skull and bone fragments were "projecting superiorly from the superior wall of the orbit up into the left frontal lobe." (ROA p. ____; APA p. 52). The radiologist described these fractures as "extensive." (ROA p. ____; APA p. 54).

In addition to the facial and head trauma, Claimant complained of neck pain on the day of the accident. (APA p. 50). The CT of the cervical spine indicated degenerative changes at C5-6. (ROA p.

___; APA p. 53).

Claimant followed up with Dr. Cavert McCorkel. Dr. McCorkel, without any objective tests, released Claimant as having reached maximum medical improvement with a permanent partial impairment of 2% at the whole person as a result of his head injury. (ROA p. ___; APA p. 147). Interestingly, Dr. McCorkel released Claimant on September 27, 2010 despite the fact that Claimant was still suffering from dizziness. (ROA p. ___; APA p. 147).

As instructed by Dr. McCorkel, Claimant returned to work on September 28, 2010. (ROA p. ___; Tr. p. 24).

Although he tried to do his job, Claimant was now a different person. According to his supervisor, Dennis Messer, Claimant started sleeping on the job and became argumentative. (ROA p. ___; Tr. p. 30). Mr. Messer had never had these problems with Claimant prior to the accident. (ROA p. ___; Tr. p. 38). Claimant also complained of headaches which Mr. Messer assumed were related to the neck. (ROA p. ___; Tr. p. 31, 32, 37).

Toward the end of his employment with Williams Electric Company, Claimant was supposed to come to work packed for a 10 day trip out of state because of a storm. When he showed up for work the day they were leaving, he did not come packed for the trip. Mr. Messer confirmed that Claimant advised him that he could not travel with them “because of his headaches and stuff.” (ROA p. ___; Tr. 32, 39).

Williams Electric Company took Claimant out of service on April 17, 2011 because of his “memory problems.” (ROA p. ___; APA p. 117, 156; Barbara Champion/Dennis Messer Email dated February 13, 2012).

Because of his ongoing problems, Claimant was evaluated by Upstate Spine and Neurosurgery Center, PC. (ROA p. ___; APA No. 4). These records indicate that Claimant’s “pain

increased shortly after returning to work, triggered by overhead work and noise from the truck and has been occurring in an intermittent pattern for months.” (ROA p. ____; APA. P. 71). Claimant’s pain was “described as being located in the neck (posterior, bilateral)” and “other (bilateral frontal headache).” (ROA p. ____; APA p. 71). On May 25, 2011, Claimant informed his doctor that he had “severe pain since accident and so have a hard time concentrating on tasks, forget things I am doing. Noise like work “kills me.” Music louder than conversation may hurt.” (ROA p. ____; APA p.71).

Neurosurgeon Dr. Chittum evaluated Claimant on May 25, 2011 and recommended that Claimant participate in physical therapy for his neck pain to see if that would also alleviate his headaches. (ROA p. ____; APA p. 72).

Claimant started physical therapy on May 31, 2011 and attended four sessions. (ROA p. ____; APA P.100). Physical therapy was not beneficial and actually exasperated Claimant’s symptoms. (ROA P. ____; APA p. 75).

Claimant was discharged from physical therapy on June 24, 2011 for being non-compliant. The therapist indicated that Claimant was not attentive during physical therapy sessions and was tardy to all sessions. (ROA p. ____; APA p. 100).

An MRI of the cervical spine revealed significant degenerative disc disease/spondylosis and left paracentral disc protrusion at C5/6 with decreased disc height and kyphotic angulation and degenerative disc disease with central disc protrusion at C6/7. (ROA p. ____; APA p. 75). On September 15, 2011 Upstate Spine and Neurosurgery Center recommended an anterior discectomy fusion at C5-6 and C6-7. (ROA p. ____; APA p. 75, 115).

Claimant’s pain continued to gradually worsen over the next few months. (ROA p. ____; APA p. 76). On January 17, 2012, he made the decision that he did want to undergo the surgery. (ROA p. ____; APA p. 78).

On January 30, 2012, Claimant underwent anterior discectomy and fusion at C5-6 and C6-7 with plating from C5-C7 and insertion of biomechanical device. (ROA p. ____; APA p. 79, 115). During his postoperative visit, Claimant's mood and affect was described as "labile." This was the first change in his neuropsychiatric orientation. (ROA p. ____; APA p. 80).

On February 23, 2012, Claimant was fitted with a bone growth stimulator because of multilevel cervical fusion. (ROA p. ____; APA. P. 81).

Dr. Chittum referred Claimant to Dr. Robbie Buechler at Neurology Centers of the Carolinas, PA on April 20, 2012 because of complaints of memory loss. (ROA p. ____; APA No. 6).

Claimant reported that his symptoms related to his neck improved subsequent to the surgery but "he still continues to have some headaches, dizziness, photophobia, intermittent blurred vision, neck pain but with less radiation down into his arm." (ROA p. ____; APA p. 101). Dr. Buechler found Claimant's mood to be "affected" and noted that Claimant was "somewhat depressed", "somewhat quiet" and "quite sleepy." (ROA p. ____; APA p. 101). Dr. Buechler also noted that Claimant had "difficulty with any amounts of multitasking, short term memory is poor especially for non-written issues." (ROA p. ____; APA p. 101).

Dr. Buechler wanted to perform memory tests, neurocognitive assessment and nerve conduction studies. (ROA p. ____; APA p. 103). On June 1, 2012, Dr. Buechler reported that Claimant was sleepy but he "could not tell whether this was due to sedation or inattention, or this was his cognitive problem. Either way, I think it was either directly or indirectly related to the trauma he sustained." (ROA p. ____; APA p. 107). He found moderate MCI and depression. (ROA p. ____; APA p. 107). Dr. Buechler also mentioned that Claimant should undergo traumatic brain injury treatment at Roger C. Peace Rehabilitation Hospital. (ROA p. ____; APA p. 107).

By September 25, 2012, Claimant was not even able to complete traumatic brain injury tests

despite trying to do so. Dr. Buechler requested neurocognitive testing. (ROA p. ____; APA p. 110). Dr. Buechler once again indicated that Claimant needed to be seen at Roger C. Peace for assessment to determine the best way to treat the traumatic brain injury. (ROA p. ____; APA p. 110). As related to the cervical spine injury, Dr. Buechler noted that the Claimant was still having radicular pain down the left arm. (ROA p. ____; APA p.110).

On September 5, 2012, Dr. Buechler was “grateful” for the fact that Claimant’s workers’ compensation case manager seemed amenable to having Claimant evaluated at Roger C. Peace. (ROA p. ____; APA p. 111). Dr. Buechler specifically ordered that Claimant be evaluated by Roger C. Peace. (ROA p. ____; APA p.112). Unfortunately, the workers’ compensation case manager reneged on approval for the referral to Roger C. Peace. According to Dr. Randolph Waid, evaluation by Roger C. Peace would have been the most effective way to determine the extent, nature and cause of Claimant’s injuries. (ROA p. ____; APA p.124).

Despite the fact that the Claimant continued to have symptoms, neck pain, stiff neck and headaches consistently over numerous months, the very day Dr. Chittum learned that Claimant had been arrested for narcotics, Dr. Chittum suddenly found that the Claimant was approaching MMI. (ROA p. ____; APA p.87). Dr. Chittum ordered a Functional Capacity Evaluation which was performed on September 25, 2012. Based upon the evaluator’s opinion that Claimant qualified for a light-medium position, Dr. Chittum found Claimant had reached maximum medical improvement with a 71% impairment to the neck and 25% impairment to the whole person. (ROA p. ____; APA p. 87). Dr. Chittum also opined that Claimant would need continued pain management. (ROA p. ____; APA p.89).

Claimant was also examined by two separate eye doctors. Dr. McPhail found on July 24, 2012 that Claimant had “visual field loss-generalized due to traumatic brain injury.” (ROA p. ____;

APA P.5). Dr. Wickliffe Keisler confirmed on April 24, 2013 that Claimant sustained severe and permanent physical brain damage as indicated by the nonspecific field loss in both eyes. (ROA p. ____; APA p. 125-131). Claimant was sleepy and had difficulty focusing and maintaining attention during the examination on April 8, 2013. (ROA p. ____; APA p.131). Dr. Wickliffe Keisler also noted that Claimant suffers from “ptosis of the left upper eyelid, which is also affecting his vision visual field.”

Authorized treating neurosurgeon, Dr. Buechler, specifically agreed and endorsed Dr. Wickliffe Keisler’s opinion that Claimant sustained severe and permanent brain damage. (ROA p. ____; Reply to Motion in Limine-Exhibit “A”).

Claimant underwent two neuropsychological evaluations-one referred by Claimant’s attorney and one referred by the Defendants’ attorney. Dr. Randolph Waid found that Claimant “continued to experience disruptive somatic, emotional, cognitive difficulties since his involvement with the work related accident.” He found “physical damage to the brain involving frontal lobe injury with his current level of functioning being more significantly comprised by the persistence of disruptive somatic and emotional difficulties.” (ROA p. ____; APA p. 124). In Dr. Waid’s opinion, Claimant had not reached maximum medical improvement. Dr. Waid highly recommended additional neuropsychological/ neuropsychiatric treatment as well as “more aggressive neuropsychological/neuropsychiatric interventions. (ROA p. ____; APA p. 124).

On the other hand, Mark Williams simply found that the “Claimant is probably malingering cognitive and other complaints.” (ROA p. ____; APA p.172). Both Waid and Williams offered extensive explanations for why their opinion should carry more weight than the other’s.

Perhaps the clearest window into the impact of this injury on Claimant’s life is the assessment by his regular general practioner. Claimant returned to Dr. Henry Shugart at Carolina

Medical Affiliates on April 5, 2013. Claimant's complaints of back pain, joint pain, stiffness, headaches, depression, anxiety, memory loss, and mental disturbance were all consistent with the voluminous records from the previous months. (ROA p. ____; APA p. 38).

Most illuminating is Dr. Shugart's Assessment and Plan based upon not a one-time evaluation of Claimant but also his knowledge of him over the years. Dr. Shugart noted that on June of 2010 Claimant had "no demonstrable deficit, no complaints with mentation." (ROA p. ____; APA p. 39). Dr. Shugart found that his examination of Claimant "grossly consistent with decreased affect, delayed capacity." (ROA p. ____; APA p.39). He found that Claimant has "deficits from his sustained injury" and "upon review of my prior interactions with this patient, I note no observed or reported difficulties with mentation, headaches, arm pain, visual changes prior to his head injury. In my opinion, this is secondary to his accidental injury." (ROA p. ____; APA p. 39).

Dr. Shugart found that Claimant's brain damage to be severe and permanent and indicated that Claimant was unable to perform his prior duties because of this severe permanent brain injury. (ROA p. ____; APA p. 39).

Dr. Shugart reviewed the competing neuropsychologist evaluations performed by Randolph Waid and Mark Williams, the results from the eye exam performed by Dr. Wickliffe Keisler, the records from Spartanburg Regional Healthcare System and the records Dr. Robbie Buechler. Based upon his knowledge of Claimant, his examination of Claimant and his review of the relevant medical records, Dr. Shugart reiterated that Claimant sustained permanent and severe damage as a result of the July 2010 accident. (ROA p. ____; APA p. 41). Dr. Shugart then takes Dr. Williams to task by stating:

Dr. Williams, in summary also noted some deficiencies with his extensive testing. He did not debate that there are attentional and reported memory deficits; he documents well that he, Dr. Waid, and other physicians, (as did I) note and report these deficits. However, throughout his report, he discounts the other testing results,

and his own observations and measured deficits stating, “I do not believe that the claimant is currently experiencing any significant psychological or cognitive deficits that would support a DSM-IV diagnosis other than malingering. I do not believe that the claimant is experiencing any significant psychological distress or dysfunction that can be considered as being causally related to his July 9, 2010 accident.” He repeatedly points to a discrepancy in the records where the responders/witnesses report that Mr. Lowery was alert throughout, versus reports from the emergency room claiming he lost consciousness as proof that Mr. Lowery could not have amnesia from the event as he reports.

I would address a few of these points.

First it is not argued that Mr. Lowery suffered a significant injury on July 9, 2010. In fact, the injury was so severe that the patient was flown to the trauma center - this only occurs when there is significant concern/injury.

Now, whether Mr. Lowery lost consciousness or not, I feel is a minor point. Amnesia, in a medical definition, is unrelated to loss of consciousness, it only deals with lack of memory – which has been reported and is documented. Indeed no loss of consciousness is required to sustain physical brain damage.

Multiple physicians have documented that Mr. Lowery has difficulty with attention, memory and slowed speech, in addition to his physical injuries. I personally had seen Mr. Lowery prior to his injury with no documentation, observation of mental deficits. However, in follow up, almost three years post injury, these deficits were obvious to me. So again, the fact of the injury is not debated, and the fact of the deficits is not debated. It seems to me that the sticking point is to the cause of these deficits. I would think that any reasonable person would consider such a traumatic brain injury to be able to cause such deficits.

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