THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

Appeal from the South Carolina
Workers' Compensation Commission

SCWCC File No. 1008485

Appellate Case No. 2014-001503

RECEIVED

FEB 13 2015

SC Court of Appeals

Rusty Lowery, Claimant,

Appellant,

v.

Pioneer Associates, Employer, and
Chartis Casualty Co., Carrier, Defendants,

Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Katie D. Phipps, Esquire
Willson Jones Carter & Baxley, P.A.
872 S. Pleasantburg Drive
Greenville, South Carolina 29607
(864) 272-2661
Attorney for Respondents.

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

A. Claimant Did Not Preserve The Alleged Errors For Review.

First, the bulk of Appellant’s argument is not preserved for review. Appellant failed to timely and specifically object on all the grounds for error he now seeks to argue, and he has waived any allegations of error not presented to the Commission. Cf. State v. Stahlnecker, 386 S.C. 609, 617-18, 690 S.E.2d 565, 570 (2010) (holding a party’s request for review is limited to the specific grounds of objection presented to the trial court). Furthermore, the objection must be raised contemporaneously with the objectionable evidence. State v. Aldret, 333 S.C. 307, 509 S.E.2d 811 (1999) (“We have routinely held that a party must object at the first opportunity to preserve an issue for review.”)

In his brief, Claimant fails to delineate between the documentary evidence and the testimonial evidence. As to the documentary evidence, the transcript of the hearing before the Single Commissioner reveals one preserved issue only. Namely that the documents related to drug charges were presented as evidence of committing a crime to impeach the Appellant:

We had a pre-hearing discussion where there were some objections to some of the APAs. The Claimant objected to the Defendants APA regarding criminal charges that are pending against the Claimant, and it is the position of the Defendants that those are not being offered to prove that he committed these crimes but they are being offered to prove that he is, in fact, able to earn money and is earning money while he's drawing temporary total disability benefits so I am allowing them for that reason. . .

The Court: Other than that, are there any objections to APAs, jurisdiction, venue, or any other items.

[Claimant's attorney]: No, ma'am.

(Tr. 3:12-4:14) Claimant now makes arguments regarding relevance and Rule 403, which were never presented to the Single Commissioner.

The objections to the testimonial evidence were similarly insufficient. While Claimant objected to Ms. Collier's testimony in the Form 30 (Application for Commission Review), he failed to do object to the bulk of her testimony at the hearing, and, because he failed to object contemporaneously when the testimony was offered, he has waived this issue on appeal. In reviewing Ms. Collier's testimony as a whole, Claimant objected to very little of the testimony. Defendants assert that the following summary shows Ms. Collier's testimony received without objection at the time it was presented:

- Ms. Collier is a SLED agent who works primarily in narcotics investigation and is qualified to testify as an expert in drug enforcement. (Hrg. Tr. 7-8).

- Ms. Collier directed a confidential informant to purchase methamphetamine from Mr. Lowery in March 201[2].¹ (Hrg. Tr. 10).
- Ms. Collier gave the informant \$4000 to purchase drugs from Rusty Lowery, and the informant returned with methamphetamines. (Hrg. Tr. 12).
- Mr. Lowery is selling amphetamines out of his home, which he buys from someone else to re-sale, and he runs a for-profit enterprise. (Hrg. Tr. 12-13).
- Mr. Lowery has pending warrants, is on the run, and would be arrested. (Hrg. Tr. 14).
- Mr. Lowery sold the drugs to the confidential informant. (Hrg. Tr. 21).

This is the testimony that Claimant now objects to; however, it was received into evidence without objection at the time that it was made. Claimant has waived any allegation of error as to this testimony because he failed to preserve the issue.

B. The Alleged Bases Of Error For Inclusion Of The Drug Evidence Are Not Relevant.

Claimant’s arguments relying on the South Carolina Rules of Evidence are wholly inapplicable. “[T]he South Carolina Rules of Evidence do not apply in proceedings before the Workers’ Compensation Commission.” Hamilton v. Bob Bennett Ford, 339 S.C. 68, 528 S.E.2d 667 (2000) (citing S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-330). As an example, Hamilton states that hearsay testimony may be admissible to the Commission if corroborated, which is not consistent with the Rules of Evidence. As noted in Hamilton, “great liberality is exercised in permitting the introduction of evidence in proceedings under Workmen's Compensation Acts.” 339 S.C at 70, 528 S.E.2d at 668 (citing Ham v. Mullins Lumber Co., 193 S.C. 66, 7 S.E.2d 712 (1940)). In this instance Collier

¹ As shown infra, this is during the time that Claimant was receiving TTD.

corroborated the documents in evidence related to the claimant selling to a CI. Claimant cites Rules 401, 402, 403, 404, and 901. These rules have no bearing on the proceedings before the Commission, and, therefore, cannot be relied upon as bases for allegations of error in the conduct of the hearing.

C. The Drug-Related Evidence Is Relevant.

Despite Claimant's repeated protestations, the drug-related evidence is relevant. Although the Commission is not bound by the Rules of Evidence, the definition of relevance in Rule 401 provides guidance on admissibility of evidence: "Relevant evidence" means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence. The benefits available under the Workers' Compensation Act are disability and medical treatment. Therefore, any evidence bearing on Claimant's entitlement to a certain amount of disability or medical treatment is relevant.

Per Section 42-1-120, Disability is "incapacity because of injury to earn the wages which the employee was receiving at the time of injury in the same or any other employment." As aptly noted in the Claimant's Brief,

Disability in compensation cases is to be measured by loss of earning capacity. Total disability does not require complete helplessness. . . . The generally accepted test of total disability is inability to perform services other than those that are "so limited in quality, dependability, or quantity that a reasonably stable market for them does not exist."

Watson v. Xtra Mile Driver Training, Inc., 399 S.C. 455, 732 S.E.2d 190 (Ct. App. 2012). Furthermore, neither the language in Watson nor the statutory definition of "employment," exclude illegal employment from this determination. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-150. Given that *Claimant alleges permanent and total disability*, with a severe and

permanent brain injury, Claimant alleges a quality of injury so great that he is permanently barred from earning money. Therefore, the threshold question is whether Claimant's work selling drugs is relevant to a determination of Claimant's ability to earn an income post-accident.

As the Single Commissioner correctly determined, Claimant's job selling drugs is relevant in determining his ability to perform services for which there is a reasonably stable market. Over the course of several days, Claimant provided drugs to a confidential informant and received money in exchange for this provision of goods. (APA pp. 197-209) The SLED agent, who was qualified as an expert in drug enforcement without objection, testified that she gave a confidential informant \$4000 to buy drugs from Claimant. (Tr. 12) Claimant bought the drugs from another individual and sold them for profit. (Tr. 13). Per Watson, the test for total disability is not the amount of profit, but whether the Claimant can perform services for which there is a demand in a reasonably stable market. Certainly this is not a legal market, but Claimant was performing a service for which he received payment.

Even after his arrest, when Claimant became a confidential informant and set up a drug buy with dealers out of Atlanta, he was performing a service in a stable market for which he received the potential for reduced charges: Claimant was working for SLED, under an agreement (Hrg. Tr. 15), under the direction of Agent Collier, and performing a service for which there was a stable market. Claimant performed a service that Agent Collier could not perform herself because the dealers "are more comfortable with somebody they know." (Hrg. Tr. 15) Therefore, by rule, Claimant is not totally disabled. Whether the criminal charges can be proved is not relevant. However, Claimant's acts

giving rise to the charges are relevant to determining disability, and Claimant's attempts to exclude the evidence are misplaced.

In addition, Claimant's allegation of permanent and severe brain damage make elements of Claimant's function relevant. In order for the Commission to determine whether there is physical brain damage, the Commission must have evidence, among other things, that the worker is unable to return to suitable gainful employment due to the severity of the damage to the brain. Crisp. v. SouthCo., 401 S.C. 627, 642, 738 S.E.2d 835 (2013) Indeed, in order to award lifetime benefits, there must be severe, permanent impairment of normal brain function, on a level consonant with the physical impairments of paraplegia and quadriplegia. Sparks v. Palmetto Hardwood, Inc., 406 S.C. 124, 128, 750 S.E.2d 61 (2013). Therefore, Claimant's ability to perform services and receive payment are also relevant to the issue of brain injury. For similar reasons as above, given that Claimant was able to sell drugs to an informant and set up a buy from other dealers, the ability to perform services is relevant in determining whether there is physical brain damage.

Finally, Respondents would note that Claimant's drug dealing and subsequent behavior in avoiding arrest is indicative of a significant level of brain function. Contrary to Claimant's assertion that it is speculative to find Claimant was evading arrest (Cl.'s Br. at 16), Claimant's failure to appear at hearing to evade arrest is a (and arguably the only) reasonable inference from the following evidence: Claimant did not appear at the hearing. (Hr. Tr. 6); Agent Collier, for whom Claimant worked (Hr. Tr. 15), testified the Claimant had outstanding warrants, was on the run, and would be arrested. (Hr. Tr. 14). Claimant's ability to understand risk and evade detection certainly speaks to his level of function,

and is, therefore, relevant.

D. Given The Relevance Of The Drug Evidence, No Other Rule Bars Admission To Evidence.

Given all of the above, there is no rule of evidence that precludes admission of the drug-related evidence, and, therefore, both documents and testimony were properly admitted. Claimant erroneously cites two rules in an attempt to exclude the drug evidence.

Claimant citation to Rule 403 is inapposite, for the reasons of issue preservation and applicability discussed supra. However, even if it were not, Rule 403 would not operate to exclude the drug evidence in this proceeding:

Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.

First, the Rule is permissive. Even if the probative value of the evidence is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, exclusion is not required. Therefore, in accordance with the rule in civil cases, the Claimant would have to show an abuse of discretion to successfully prove an error, which has not been done here. “An appellate court reviews Rule 403 rulings pursuant to an abuse of discretion standard and gives great deference to the trial court.” Lee v. Bunch, 373 S.C. 654, 647 S.E.2d 197, 199 (2007). Thus, the question on appeal is not whether Rule 403 could have excluded the evidence, but whether the Commission committed an abuse of discretion. Claimant’s Brief fails to make this argument, and, therefore, it is waived.

Even so, Rule 403 is more properly directed towards evidence submitted to a jury. See Note to SCRE 403. Indeed in ruling on a Rule 403 objection, the objectionable

evidence must be reviewed by the judge. An objection based on Rule 403 grounds is without merit in a proceeding when the judge and factfinder are one and the same and is required to review all proffered evidence. Claimant's Rule 403 argument fails.

Next, Claimant's analogy to Fore v. Griffco of Wampee, Inc., 409 S.C. 360, 762 S.E.2d 37 (Ct. App. 2014) is misplaced. First, based on a review of Fore, the issue preservation issues discussed supra were not at issue in Fore, and, therefore, Fore is inapplicable here. Second, Fore is factually distinguishable from this claim. Fore involved a letter written by Smith, the Director of the Commission's Compliance Division, to the Insurance Fraud Division of the Attorney General's office, which set forth allegations of potential fraud in the workers compensation claim itself. Id. at 3. In sum, the letter set forth that Fore was ostensibly employed as a bail bondsman "off the books." The letter was included in evidence, over Claimant's objections of hearsay, that the letter was an impermissible ex parte communication, and inadmissible as evidence of a pending criminal prosecution. Id. at 5. This Court found the letter should have been excluded on various grounds: hearsay, undue prejudice, violation of the Insurance Fraud Statute (S.C. Code Ann. § 38-55-570(D)), and an apparent due process violation (inability to conduct meaningful discovery because the letter's existence was unknown until 8 days before the hearing). Id. at 9.

The concerns expressed in Fore are not present here. First, the Insurance Fraud Statute is not applicable, as the drug evidence was not part of a report to the Attorney General's Office. Next, the due process/investigative concerns are not relevant. As opposed to any trial by ambush involving a then-unknown fraud investigation, Claimant was ostensibly aware of his arrest on drug charges while he was receiving temporary total

disability. In addition, a hearsay objection was not made in this claim, and even so, the testimony of Agent Collier was sufficiently corroborative of the documents for inclusion into evidence.

Finally, Fore sets forth that “without a determination of the truth of this allegation, we hold the prejudice to Fore from admitting the letter exceeded any probative value to be gained.” Id. at 9. However, in this claim, Agent Collier, a law enforcement agent for the State, corroborated the material contained in the APA submissions, and, therefore, there was a level of corroboration not present in Fore. Also, Fore’s holding indicates that the letter was essentially impeachment material against Fore. That concern is not valid in this claim because 1) Claimant did not testify and 2) the drug-related evidence is specifically relevant to disability, as has always been contended, not the issue of guilt. To the extent that Fore suggests a Rule 403 analysis applies to a judge who is also a factfinder, the Defendants assert that the unfair prejudice analysis is inapplicable. Assuming the basis of Rule 403 is to prevent a factfinder from making a decision on an improper basis, e.g., arousing sympathy or prejudice, when the officer of the Court must review the disputed evidence to determine inclusion or exclusion, the danger of unfair prejudice exists even if the material is excluded from evidence. Therefore, unfair prejudice is simply not relevant in this claim.

E. Claimant Mischaracterizes The Use Of Drug Evidence.

In sum, when Claimant’s legal arguments fail for the reasons stated above, he resorts to subtly mischaracterizing the drug evidence and its use by the Commission. Claimant accuses the Commission of outcome-based decision making rather than deciding a case based on the evidence: “the single commissioner and Appellate Panel

focused on this evidence to justify minimizing Claimant's claim for benefits." (Cl.'s Br. at 13.) "[T]he single commissioner and Appellate Panel presumed Claimant guilty." (Cl.'s Br. at 17.) "The single Commissioner and Appellate Panel perpetuated this unconstitutional burden shifting" (Cl.'s Br. at 17.) "[T]he only reason the single commissioner allowed evidence of drug issues was to find some way to substantiate the denial of this lifetime benefits case." (Cl.'s Br. at 17.) This groundless hyperbole disparages the Commission and is not accurate. In sum, the drug evidence was extremely probative regarding Claimant's ability to provide good and services in exchange for income and other benefits, and Claimant cannot credibly argue otherwise.

II. The Contested Email Was Properly Excluded From Evidence.

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